# FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 4 1998

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, By	SUPPEME	COURT
Chi	of Deputy Cl	erk

TERRY LEE WOODS,	)	
	)	
Appellant,	)	
	)	
VS.	)	CASE NO. 90,833
	)	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)	
	)	
Appellee.	)	
	)	

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA

# **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GEORGE D.E. BURDEN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0786438 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

# **

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Terry Lee Woods, hereinafter referred to as the appellant, was indicted for first-degree murder from a premeditated design and attempted murder by the Lake County Grand Jury on June 28, 1993. (R5) The Office of the Public Defender filed a Motion to Withdraw based upon conflict and substitute counsel, Jeffrey M. Pfister was appointed. (R24, 22) Attorney Pfister had previously represented Timothy L. Bryant in 9 different cases, and the appellant waived any conflict. (R27) Appellant Motioned for Court-Appointed Co-Counsel, and Attorney Graves was appointed as co-counsel. (R77)

Appellant filed a Notice of Alibi listing seven witnesses claiming that appellant was at an apartment on Mike Street in Leesburg at the time of the murder. (R44) The State filed a Notice of Williams Rule Evidence: Driving the decedent's car without permission; forging a Bill of Sale of decedent's car; and Carrying a Concealed Weapon. (R554) The appellant filed 27 pre-trial motions related to the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty scheme and the disclosure of penalty phase evidence. (R185-373)

The State Motioned to Exclude all Mention of Computer Voice Stress Analyzer During Trial.(R520) The State filed a Motion In Limine precluding testimony of appellant's history for non-violent behavior. (R521) The Motion was granted. (R582)

During jury selection, appellant objected to the State's peremptory challenge of alternate Juror Haddon because Juror Haddon was black. (R740) The trial court permitted the challenge based upon the race neutral reason that the juror demonstrated an inability to weigh the credibility of witnesses. (R743)

During trial, the appellant objected to the testimony concerning out of court statements made by the victim's wife: "Terry did this... Terry did this" based upon hearsay. (R876)

The trial court overruled the objection as an excited utterance. (R877) The state listed

Orlando Sentinel reporter Mary Murphy as a witness during trial. (R1076) The appellant waived any Richardson violation. (R1084)

The appellant objected to the state's direct examination of Captain Gehlbach: "Are you aware of witnesses who have placed a small caliber pistol in the defendant's possession";

Overruled. (R1273) The appellant objected to the question to the victim's wife as to whether she knew the terms of the sale of her husband's car. (R1376) The trial court allowed the testimony as a state of mind hearsay exception. (R1376) The appellant objected to Captain Gehlbach testifying as to whether appellant and Timothy Bryant voices are similar as to being outside the witnesses' ability. (R1510) The appellant made a Motion for Mistrial for testimony that pictures of appellant offered into evidence were taken while the appellant was at the jail. (R1555) There was a further objection to the introduction of the photographs of appellant and Timothy Bryant. (R1557)

The State rested. (R1836) The appellant moved for a Judgment of Acquittal which was denied. (R1836) The jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged to both counts. (R2589) The appellant renewed all previous objections. (R2610)

During the charge conference and penalty phase, appellant objected to the jury being instructed on the financial gain and cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating factor. (R2565; 2567) The trial court also denied appellant's requested penalty phase instruction number 2, 3 and 6. (R2573,74) The appellant objected to the jury instruction of the prior violent felony aggravating factor. (R2726,27) The jury returned a death recommendation by a vote of 8 to 4. (R2744)

The appellant made a Motion for New Trial based upon the discovery of new evidence and jury misconduct. (R2756) The trial court denied the Motion for New Trial based upon the lack of credibility of the witness. (R3021) The trial court sentenced the appellant to death on Count I and forty years to Count II consecutive to Count I. (R3027-3031)

# STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the evening of June 12, 1996 at approximately 9:20 p.m., Jeannie and Ben Allicock were traveling in their car down Griffin Road in Leesburg. (R860-61) Jeannie Allicock saw a female on the side of the road waiving for help and they stopped. (R863) Jean Allicock saw a lady with blood all over her. (R864) Jeannie Allicock grabbed a towel and followed with another passerby to a car down the road. (R865) At the car, Jean Allicock observed a man inside not responding to anything. (R866) They put the seat back in the car and placed the towel behind the man's head to relieve pressure. (R867) The passerby that helped Jean Allicock was an Afro-American female. (R869)

Benjamin Allicock stayed with the woman on the side of the road. (R875) The woman was bleeding profusely from the face area, so he called 911 for an ambulance. (R875) The lady kept repeating "Terry did this...Terry did this.." (R876) Ben Allicock asked the woman what she was doing there that evening. (R877) The woman told Allicock that she was shot down by the ally way by Terry during a car deal. (R883) Terry had called up and asked to meet them there, and there was a discussion about money then the shooting. (R883)

Officer George Whittaker received a radio call at 9:30 p.m. to go to an area near Griffin Road. (R890) When Whittaker arrived, one lady said some people got shot. (R891) Whittaker observed one lady in the back seat of a car getting medical attention. (R891) A lady also said there was another person down the road sitting in a car. (R891) Whittaker proceeded down a dirt road and observed a car with an elderly white male behind the steering wheel unconscious and apparently shot. (R891) Whittaker searched the area with a flashlight and he found four or five cartridge casings scattered about the rear passenger door, and noticed that

the rear passenger door handle was pulled out of the panel. (R892,93)

EMT Wilbanks was dispatched to the scene, and upon arrival he encountered a woman in the roadway with bystanders. (R903) The woman was awake, alert, and had been shot. (R904) The woman (Pamela Langford) stated she had not lost consciousness and had no trouble breathing. (R904) EMT Johnson assisted Wilbanks, and was directed to the care of Pamela Langford. (R909) Langford said she was shot by "Terry." (R910) Langford appeared alert and orientated during this period. (R910-12)

Dr. Clifton Bridges was summoned to the hospital to see Pamela Langford. (R216)
Langford had sustained two small caliber gunshot wounds with entrance wounds to the right side of the neck. (R217) One missile traversed the neck and exited just below the right cheek. (R217) The other missile entered the right side of the neck, traversed the soft tissue and exited the mouth. (R217) Dr. Bridges administered Demerol and Fenogrin. (R219) Demerol is a narcotic and Fenogrin is used for nausea. (R221) Langford was given Demerol at 4:30 a.m. and 7:30 a.m. the morning after the shooting. (R224) The narcotic effect of Demerol peaks within 30 minutes and then tapers off over a period of several hours. (R226) Langford did not sleep until 3:30 a.m. The lack of sleep combined with Demerol effects mental acuity. (R228)

Dr. Janet Pillow, a forensic pathologist, performed an autopsy on Clarence Langford. (R934) Langford had three gunshot wounds of entrance to the head. (R935) One wound to the right cheek; one shot behind the right ear; and one shot entered the right side of the back of the head. (R935-936) One bullet stopped into the scalp on the left side of the head and was recovered. (R936) Each of the wounds were consistent with each other and came from a small

caliber weapon. (R936)

Blood test of Langford's blood showed that his blood alcohol was .03 percent. (R938) Dr. Pillow had no opinion as to whether the shooter was right or left handed. (R943) It was unlikely that a gunman got blood on themselves or their clothing due to the size of the wounds and the area of the body where the wounds were inflicted on the victims. (R944) Moreover, Dr. Pillow could not determine which shots were fired first. (R951) Further examination of Mr. Langford showed no stippling or gunshot residue on Mr. Langford meaning that the shots were fired at a distance of over 12 to 18 inches away from his body. (R961-963) Dr. Pillow admitted that the woman seated on the passenger seat was short and the car had a tall head rest. It was more likely the shooter was right handed. (R966) However, not knowing the way each person was looking, the way the seats were positioned, and exactly where in the backseat the shooter was at the time of the shots, Dr. Pillow could not say which side of the head rest the bullets traveled before they struck Mrs. Langford's neck. (R967)

Deputy Terry Allen was a crime scene technician called to the scene of the shooting.

(R972) Allen processed the vehicle for fingerprints. (R979) Allen found two .25 caliber bullet cartridge cases in the back of the car, and four outside the passenger's side rear door.

(R981-983) Allen also removed five spent projectiles from inside the vehicle. (R984) Allen did not find any usable fingerprints inside the automobile. (R985) The Langford vehicle was found on a dirt road 317 feet from Griffin Road. (R988) The shots were fired from the backseat of the vehicle. (R1027) Crime scene technician Ron Shirley lifted a latent fingerprint from the roof above the front door of the car. (R1049) A Negroid hair was found in the backseat of the Langford car. It was a female hair not belonging to Woods or his family. (R

The day after the murder, Officer Petrowski observed Woods riding a red bicycle in downtown Leesburg at 11:20 a.m. (R1057) Woods was wearing a white v-neck t-shirt, black shorts and a lot of gold on his neck. (R1058) Woods rode within eight to ten feet and Petrowski said "Hello"; Woods made eye contact with Petrowski but did not say anything. (R1059) Woods kept riding in the direction of the Police Department, made no attempts to avoid the police and made no sudden movements. (R1060-67) Petrowski saw Woods 15 minutes later. Woods had changed his clothes and was no longer wearing his jewelry. (R1063)

Officer Giles, an expert K-9 handler, tracked for a suspect. (R1086-92) Tracking conditions were ideal, and Giles found evidence of flight from the area. (R1095) Giles got his dog and started the track there about ten to thirteen feet south of the front of the Langford vehicle. (R 1097-99) The tracking proceeded across a grass field, then angled off at about a 45 degree angle and across the railroad tracks to the west side. (R1100) The track continued along the railroad tracks almost at the bush line. (R1100) The track led to the Chester Street area along several houses on the north side of the road. (R1104) The track crossed over McCormack Street and continued to the intersection of Beecher Street. (R1104) The track was lost at the intersection of Beecher and Johns Street near a parking area, grocery store, and small pool hall. (R1105) The loss of the scent was indicative of the subject entering a motor vehicle and leaving the area all at one time. (R1106)

Giles also participated in the search of Woods' house. (R1110) Woods' mother, Della Swan gave written permission to search the home. (R1110) Giles found no weapons or bullets

at the home. (R1112) Giles found a traffic citation issued Woods, a receipt dated April 1st, and a second receipt and a Bill of Sale for an automobile. (R1113-15) Giles also recovered clothing from Woods, none of which had the presence of blood. (R1120) Woods had been previously observed in the area where he had lost the scent from the crime scene. (R1120) Also, during the search of Woods' house, Della Swan stated that her son was home watching a basketball game at the time of the shooting. (R1132) Finally, while searching the home Giles observed that the Woods' mother was in the process of moving. (R1121) According to Giles, Woods' mother eventually moved to a home on McCormack Street five to seven doors down to where he had lost track of the suspect from the crime scene. (R1130) At the time of the murder, the house on McCormack Street had not been built. (R1131)

Captain Gehlbach of the Leesburg Police was lead investigator. (R1152) Gehlbach questioned Pam Langford at the hospital the morning after the shooting. (R1154-55) During the interview, Langford was in tremendous amount of pain. (R1157) It was difficult to talk due to the injuries to her mouth. (R1157) Gehlbach showed Langford a photo-lineup. (R1159) Langford seemed reasonably coherent and alert. (R1160) After the interview with Langford, Gehlbach put out a BOLO for Woods. (R1159) Gehlbach questioned Langford again on June 18th and extensively on June 26th. (R1162) On both dates, Langford showed more mental alertness and was able to bring out more details of the shooting. (R1162)

After his arrest, Woods cooperated with the police and state attorney's office. (R1166) Woods admitted he left the house two times the day of the shooting. (R1167) He left his house at 9:00 a.m. to get toilet paper and 9:00 p.m. to use the pay phone to call his sister, Georgia. (R1168) The call to his sister Georgia lasted fifteen minutes. (R1168) Woods

admitted that he knew the Langfords and that he was buying an older Chevy Bellair from them. (R1168) Woods also described an incident where the Bellair was returned to the Langfords. (R 1169) Mrs. Langford became very upset during this incident and used the "F" word. (R1169) Woods also assured police that his family would verify that he returned home to watch the basketball game that started at 9:15 p.m. (R1168)

Months after his arrest, Woods contacted Captain Gehlbach to speak with him without attorneys present. (R185) The purpose of the discussion was to provide further information about Timothy Bryant concerning the homicide in Winter Garden. (R1207) Woods saw Bryant a week and a half after the Winter Garden murder. (R1207) They drove off to Bryant's father's house to retrieve weapons. (R1189) Bryant told Woods that he needed the .38 caliber handgun and a little silver handgun, type unknown, because "somebody tried him." (R1207) After picking up the weapons they left Bryant's father's house and went to Tampa to pick up Woods' daughter. (R1208-9) While leaving Tampa there was a minor incident of Bryant pulling away in the vehicle to quickly which Bryant explained as being paranoid of the police nearby. (R1208) During the trip, Bryant began polishing a small silver automatic pistol, and playing with it in the backseat. (R1211) Bryant's girlfriend told him to quit playing with the gun, it might go off. (R1211) Bryant said "Don't worry, he's a professional." (R

Woods also stated he also saw the little silver gun in Bryant's possession two weeks before the trip to Tampa. (R1212) Bryant said he was going to get Langford because Langford owed him for an ounce. (R1213) Langford would come down Pine Street crediting for dope from people saying that they were going to pay them back. (R1222) Woods knew

that Bryant did the shooting because Bryant had told him he did it because Langford owed him money for dope and the "man" did not come clean. (R1222) Langford's hair was tested for evidence of drug ingestion. (R1832) The testing ruled out chronic and repetitive use of drugs. (R1832) The test however could not detect infrequent drug use. (R1832)

In jail Bryant would ask Woods if he had heard anything about Leesburg. (R1222) Bryant would specifically ask if he felt they were going to find the gun. (R1222) Bryant's confession in jail was overheard by another inmate named Dewayne Jones. (R1232) At the jail, Bryant would ask Woods if they thought they were going to find the gun. (R1222)

Captain Gehlbach admitted that he did not interview Woods' alibi witnesses, principally his brother and sisters or the neighbor Phil Harris. (R1237) He further admitted that he did not get around to talking to Dewayne Jones until February of 1997 because he could not locate him. (R1232) Captain Gehlbach also admitted he forgot to put in his reports that Woods claimed to have called his sister Georgia at the time of the murder. (R1247) These investigative short comings were because Gehlbach was satisfied that Woods was the shooter based upon the statements made by Langford. (R1254)

Woods assisted Officer Carter in a criminal investigation in Winter Garden. (R 1293) Woods wore a covert wire on two occasions during discussions with Timothy Bryant. (R1293) Woods wore a wire on June 3, 1996 to help determine the weapon used in the homicide. (R1293) Woods had initially contacted the Winter Garden Police after seeing a sketch of a murder suspect on Channel 2 News that resembled Timothy Bryant. (R1294) The suspects in the Winter Garden shooting were Timothy Bryant and Robin James. (R1300) A .380 caliber automatic handgun was used in the Winter Garden homicide. (R1300)

The .380 caliber gun used in the Winter Garden homicide was produced by Timothy Bryant's father for the Winter Garden police. (R1302) Officer Carter followed Bryant's father to an area north Yalaha. (R1302) While Carter waited in a secluded wooded area, Bryant's father returned with the .380 handgun with dirt and water on his left leg as if he had been digging something up. (R1302,3) Carter did not know if anything else was buried with the .380 handgun. (R1303) Timothy Bryant and Robin James both blamed Woods for the Winter Garden homicide. (R1303) However, Bryant's girlfriend Karen Gilmore, initially provided an alibi for Bryant, then recanted it and indicated that Bryant had participated in the Winter Garden homicide. (R1304) The .380 handgun recovered by Bryant's father was the gun used in the Winter Garden homicide. (R1305) Bryant's father requested that the fact he gave up the gun to police not be made public because he feared reprisals from Bryant's associates, criminal elements in Leesburg and Yalaha. (R1308-09)

Georgia Mae Thompson is the older sister of Woods. (R1313) The night of the shooting, Thompson arrived at her mother's apartment on Mike Street at 6:00 p.m. with her young daughter. (R1314) She stayed at the house for two hours. (R1315) When she arrived at the house, Woods was there. (R1316) Thompson first watched television and then went out on the porch with her mother. (R1316) Woods had left the house for 3 or 4 minutes and then returned while Thompson and her mother were sitting on the porch. (R1316) Thompson left her mother's house at 8:00 p.m. by taxi cab. (R1316) Thompson did not receive any telephone calls from her brother the night of the shooting. (R1318)

Lake County Sheriffs and Leesburg Police Officers searched Timothy Bryant's father's residence property with a metal detector for weapons. (R1320, 1325, 1328) The search

occurred with the consent of Timothy Bryant's father. (R1328) During the search there were signs that things had been dug up recently. (R1320-21) During the search they did not find a gun or ammunition. (R1321)

Clarence Langford was a retired customs official from Miami who liked to tinker with cars in his spare time. (R1338) He would buy a car, fix it up, use it and then sell it. (R1338) Friends and family called him "Matt." (R1336) At the time of the shooting Pamela Langford owned a Taurus station wagon, and Clarence owned a blue Mazda and a white Chevrolet. (R 1338) Langford got the Chevrolet in Alabama, and he never changed the registration because he was restoring the car for the past two years. (R1339)

In March of 1996, Mrs. Langford pulled up to the house from grocery shopping.

(R1342) Mrs. Langford observed her husband, her grandson and a young black man looking at the Chevy. (R 1342) Langford said this man is "Terry" and he is interested in buying the car. (R1344) The grandson Louie liked the car very much and began to cry when he realized that they had planned to sell the car and Louie's father Kevin went out to see what was wrong. (R1348) Clarence Langford decided to sell the car to Terry for \$1,000.00 because Terry was such a nice young man and was really keen on the car. (R1349)

The agreement was to sell the car to Woods on installments. (R1350) Woods came back to the house on several occasions to make payments on the car. (R1351) He would come to the front door and ask for "Mr. Matt". (R1351) No one other than Woods called Langford Mr. Matt. (R1351) On one occasion Woods came to the house with a white girlfriend who had a van. (R1353) Whenever Woods made payments, Langford gave him receipts. (R1354)

Woods took possession of the car while the title was being changed in Tallahassee.

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