# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAY 4 19981

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

TERRY LEE WOODS,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. 90,833 L.T. Case No. 96-965 Lake County

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA

> ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

DAVID M. SCHULTZ
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0874523
1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD.
SUITE 300
WEST PALM BEACH, FL 33401
(561) 688-7759

Counsel for Appellee

#

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Furthermore, appellant's mother testified that appellant never suffered any head injuries (TV 20, 2687/3)

appellant's mother sometimes had trouble providing food and clothing for her eight children (TV 20, 2679/16). However, Dr. Estill testified that appellant saw his family as supportive and good people (TV 20, 2635/16). Appellant told her that he has a good family and has had a good relationship with them (TV 20, 2642/23). Appellant also told Dr. Estill that he had a great family upbringing (TV 20, 2646/22). Appellant's mother testified that appellant continued to live with her even into adulthood; that she taught him right from wrong; and that she took him to church (TV 20, 2686).

When addressing mitigating circumstances, a sentencing court must expressly evaluate in the written order each mitigating circumstance proposed by the defendant to determine whether it is supported by the evidence and whether, in the case of nonstatutory factors, it is truly of a mitigating nature; the court must find as a mitigating circumstance each proposed factor that is mitigating in nature that has been reasonably established by the greater weight of the evidence; the court next must weigh aggravating circumstances against the mitigating and must expressly consider in its written order each established mitigating circumstance. Campbell v. State, 571 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 1990). The weight assigned to a mitigating circumstance is within the trial court's discretion and subject to an abuse of discretion standard. Blanco v. State, 702 So. 2d 1250 (Fla. 1997). So long as the sentencing court

recognizes and considers a mitigating factor, the weight which it is given will generally not be disturbed. Quince v. State, 414 So. 2d 185 (Fla. 1982). The trial court's final decision in the weighing process will be sustained if supported by sufficient competent evidence in the record. Campbell v. State, 571 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 1990). In this matter, the trial court followed the requirements of Campbell; reasonable persons would agree with the weight assigned the mitigating circumstances; and the record supports the final weighing decision made by the trial court. There was therefore no abuse of discretion and the final weighing process should be sustained.

#### POINT V

### WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GIVING THE PECUNIARY GAIN STANDARD INSTRUCTION.

Appellant argues that the trial court erred by instructing the jury that they could consider as an aggravating circumstance that the murder was committed for pecuniary gain. The jury may be instructed only on those circumstances for which evidence has been presented. Stewart v. State, 549 So. 2d 171 (Fla. 1989), cert. denied, 497 U.S. 1032 (1990); Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) 75 However, appellant does not argue that there was no such evidence presented but instead cites to Omelus v. State, 584 So. 2d 563 (Fla. 1991) as being analogous to this case, because the trial court gave the jury an instruction on an aggravating circumstance that the trial court later found had not been proven to exist. In Omelus this Court did not indicate that it is error to instruct on a circumstance that the court later determines was not proven to This Court held that it was error to instruct on the HAC circumstance, because the record did not establish that the defendant knew how another would carry out the murder or that it would be done in an HAC fashion. 15 In other words, this Court found that there was no evidence presented to support giving this instruction. Further, this Court specifically addressed this issue

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Alternatively stated, if a defendant is not present at the crime scene, he or she cannot generally be held liable for how the homicide was committed.

in Bowden v. State, 588 So. 2d 225 (Fla. 1991), cert. denied, 112 S.Ct. 1596 (1992) stating:

The fact that the state did not prove this aggravating factor to the trial court's satisfaction does not require a conclusion that there was insufficient evidence of a robbery to allow the jury to consider the factor. Where, as here, evidence of a mitigating or aggravating factor has been presented to the jury, an instruction on the factor is required.

Id. at 231.

In this case there was a plethora of evidence presented to support that this homicide was committed for pecuniary gain. only relationship or link between appellant and the Langfords was the automobile. Appellant wanted it but had trouble getting it. Appellant called the police for assistance in getting the vehicle from the Langfords. When this did not work, appellant resorted to self help. He forged a Bill of Sale in his favor in regard to that vehicle. Clearly this was done to make Mr. Langford unnecessary to the transaction and expendable. The only reason for the last meeting between the Langfords and appellant related to this Appellant insisted that Mrs. Langford come to this vehicle. meeting supposedly to witness her husband's signature, but a reasonable inference is that appellant had already planned how he would get title to the vehicle and that the plan would not work with Mrs. Langford still alive. Appellant's strong desire to possess this vehicle and his efforts to do so without Mr. Langford's involvement support giving the pecuniary gain instruction. Although the trial court ultimately found that this aggravator had not been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, there was competent and credible evidence presented to support it; therefore, it was not error to give an instruction for it. *Banks v. State*, 700 So. 2d 363 (Fla. 1997).

Even if it were error to instruct the jury on this aggravating circumstance, it would be harmless in light of the other two aggravating factors. Although appellant argues that "[t]here can be no conclusion other than that the jury applied the pecuniary gain factor in recommending imposition of the death penalty," the United States Supreme Court had held that when a trial court instructs a jury on two different legal theories, one supported by the evidence and the other not, it cannot be presumed that the resulting verdict was based on the infirm ground. Sochor v. Florida, 504 U.S. 527, 538 (1992). The Court's rationale is that although a jury is unlikely to disregard a theory flawed in law, it is indeed likely to disregard an option simply unsupported by the evidence. Id.

#### POINT VI

## WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE EXISTENCE OF THE CCP CIRCUMSTANCE.

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in finding this circumstance, because the record does not support a finding of the heightened premeditation element of this circumstance. This issue was addressed in Point IV above, which is incorporated herein. To briefly summarize, there is competent substantial record evidence to support the heightened premeditation requirement. This not only includes the fact that appellant procured the murder weapon prior to the homicide but also that appellant lured the victims from their home to a secluded area where he shot them execution-style multiple times to the back of their heads; and the murder was committed without provocation or resistance as a matter of course and plan. Again, a reasonable inference from the evidence is that this plan was contrived over a period of at least fourteen days (May 30-June 12).

### POINT VII

### WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY ADMITTING ALLEGED HEARSAY TESTIMONY.

The testimony at issue followed Mrs. Langford's explanation of how appellant wanted to purchase her husband's car; how he had paid most of the purchase price over time and had taken custody of the vehicle; how her husband had taken the vehicle back and refunded appellant after the police had stopped appellant for illegally driving the vehicle; and how appellant reasserted his desire to purchase the vehicle. The following pertinent colloquy then took place:

Q This time around, was it your husband's intention to receive installments again?

Mr. Graves: Your Honor, at this time I would object to that, as to whether this witness can testify in regards to her husband's intentions.

Mr. Gross: I believe that that would be an exception to the hearsay rule, pertaining to state of mind.

The Court: I agree. Overruled. You can answer, ma'am. (TV 13, 1376/7-16).

Mrs. Langford responded that her husband told appellant to let him know when he had all the money (TV 13, 1376/22).

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in allowing this testimony because it does not qualify as a state of mind exception to hearsay in that the victim's state of mind was not an issue in the action as required under § 90.803(3) Fla. Stat. (1979).

However, this issue has not been preserved for appellate review. Although the prosecutor concluded that the objection at trial was based on hearsay, the basis of appellant's objection was lack of personal knowledge pursuant to § 90.604 Fla. Stat. (1995). order to preserve an issue for appellate review, a specific legal argument or ground upon which it is based must be presented to the trial court. § 924.051 Fla. Stat. (1996); Rodriguez v. State, 609 So. 2d 493 (Fla. 1992), cert. denied, 114 S.Ct. 99 (1993). objections are not made with sufficient specificity to apprise the trial court of the alleged error, they do not preserve the objection for appellate review. Johnston v. State, 497 So. 2d 863 (Fla. 1986). In this matter, defense counsel objected on the basis that no foundation had been laid that Mrs. Langford had personal knowledge of her husband's intentions. The issue now presented is not the specific issue raised at trial and has therefore not been preserved.

Nonetheless, Mr. Langford's state of mind/statement of intent was an issue in this action. An issue of fact embraces the disputes between the State and the defendant as to what actually existed or occurred at the particular time and place in question. Simmons v. State, 36 So. 2d 207 (Fla. 1948). The fact -- that after Mr. Langford repossessed the vehicle and refunded appellant he only wanted to sell the vehicle when appellant had all the money -- is material to show the sequence of events that occurred just

prior to this homicide and why the Langfords went to the library and picked him up. They were there because appellant said that he had all the money and wanted a Bill of Sale until the title arrived. Contrary to appellant's assertion that a murder victim's hearsay statements are admissible under the state of mind exception only when a defendant claims self-defense, suicide or accident (IB 61), this is only a general rule applicable to situations where the victim's statement shows that the victim was afraid of the defendant. See Peterka v. State, 640 So. 2d 59 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 940 (1995).

If this Court does not agree, the State contends any error was harmless pursuant to Fla. Stat. §59.041, Fla. Stat. (1995), § 924.051, Fla. Stat. (1996) and the holding of State v. Diguilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). This testimony merely explained the context of the crime. Mrs. Langford's eyewitness testimony; appellant's admission that he was the one buying the car from Mr. Langford; the manner in which the homicide was committed; and the nature of the wounds proved the elements of the crimes and the CCP circumstance. Further, this testimony was harmless, because it was essentially the same as or merely corroborative of other properly considered testimony at trial. Erickson v. State, 565 So. 2d 328, 335 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); Salter v. State, 500 So. 2d 184 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). Before Mrs. Langford testified, a good Samaritan Benjamin Allicock testified that at the crime scene before the

ambulance arrived Mrs. Langford told him that Terry had called and asked them to meet him; that it involved a car deal, and that after there was some discussion about money Terry shot her and her husband (TV11, 882/20-883/8). Also before Mrs. Langford's testimony, Captain Gehlbach testified that prior to giving his taped sworn statement appellant admitted to him that he was the person that was buying the car from Mr. Langford (TV 12, 1168/13). During his taped statement, appellant indicated that he met Mr. Langford at Publix and asked him if he wanted to sell his car (TV 13, 1218/8-20). After Mrs. Langford's testimony, the Langford's son Kevin testified that it was appellant who came by their home a number of times, because he wanted to buy his father's car (TV 14, 1499-1507). Leesburg police officer Kimberly Green also testified that appellant called the station trying to get permission to drive a car that he was paying for (TV 15, 1685/13-1687/25). recalled speaking with appellant twice that day and that appellant was very upset (TV 15, 1688/18-23). Officer Sheila Russell testified that about a week before the homicide she received a call from appellant indicating that he was having a hard time with a vehicle he was purchasing on time from Mr. Langford and wanted her to make Mr. Langford give him the car (TV 15, 1698/11-1703/24, 1704/4-10).

Prior to the subject objection, Mrs. Langford testified without objection that in March of 1996 (TV 13, 1342/12) appellant

(TV 14, 1461/11) came to her home because he wanted to buy the car (TV 13, 1343/2). Her husband agreed to sell the car to appellant over time for one thousand dollars (TV 1349/19-1350/19). testified that in the latter half of April, her husband entrusted the car to appellant with the condition that he not drive it until the title was changed into appellant's name (TV 13, 1355/18-1357/5). Appellant had the vehicle for a couple of weeks (TV 13, 1356/22), when she and her husband received a call from the police (TV 13, 1357/9). They had stopped appellant in the car and asked that the Langfords go and pick up the car (TV 13, 1358/11-1361/17). After they took the car back to their home, appellant arrived in a very angry mood demanding his money back and saying to Mr. Langford, "I'll get you, old man" (TV 13, 1366-67). She became frightened and called the police (TV 13, 1367/19-21). Appellant came by the house again the next Monday (TV 13, 1369/24), to get his money; he was very apologetic (TV 13, 1370/1-1374/2). A couple of weeks later, her husband indicated that appellant wanted to buy the car and that the deal was still on (TV 13, 1375/23-1376/6).

After the subject objection, Mrs. Langford testified that she and her husband continued to receive phone calls from appellant (TV 13, 1377/5). The day before the shooting, appellant called several times (TV 13, 1377/21) indicating that he had the money and did not want to keep it for fear that he might spend it, so he wanted to give them the money in exchange for a Bill of Sale until the title

was received (TV 13, 1377/23-1378/4). He wanted them to meet him that night at the library so they could go to the notary, but by the time he called to confirm it was too late (TV 13, 1378/9-1380/7). They agreed to meet appellant the next evening (TV 13, 1382/20). After appellant got into their car and was directing Mr. Langford to the dirt road where he intended to kill both Langfords, appellant mentioned that eleven hundred dollars was a lot of money and asked what the Langfords intended to do with it (TV 13, 1389/9). These facts, independent of the objectionable testimony, clearly establish that the first installment transaction fell through; that there was a subsequent agreement to purchase the vehicle; and that appellant was to pay the sales price in full, which is essentially the same testimony as and cumulative to Mrs. Langford's testimony now at issue.

#### POINT VIII

# WHETHER A DEATH SENTENCE RESULTING FROM AN ADVISORY RECOMMENDATION BASED ON AN 8 TO 4 MAJORITY VOTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

Appellant argues that a death sentence imposed after a bare-majority advisory recommendation for death violates both the state and federal constitutions. This Court has repeatedly found such challenges to be without merit. Fotopoulos v. State, 608 So. 2d 784, 794 & n.7 (Fla. 1992), cert. denied, 113 S.Ct. 2377 (1993); James v. State, 453 So. 2d 786, 792 (Fla.), cert. denied, 105 S.Ct. 608 (1984); Alford v. State, 322 So. 2d 533 (Fla. 1975). Appellant has provided no adequate reason for this Court to recede from its previous rulings. In Alford this Court noted that the same argument was presented but rejected in Johnson v. Louisiana, 406 U.S. 356 (1972).

Appellant also argues that Florida's death statute is unconstitutional because it does not require unanimity or a substantial majority to find the existence of an aggravating circumstance. However, this issue has not been preserved for appellate review in that it was never presented below. See San Martin v. State, 23 Fla. L. Weekly, S1 (Fla. Dec 24, 1997); Eutzy v. State, 458 So. 2d 755, 757 (Fla. 1984). Furthermore, this Court has also found this issue to be without merit. Pooler v. State, 704 So. 2d 1375 (Fla. 1997); Jones v. State, 569 So. 2d 1234 (Fla.

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